69844-3

69844-3

## NO. 69844-3

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

In re the Detention of Michael Bargas

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SKAGIT COUNTY

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Rachael E. Seevers Attorney for Appellant WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-271

##

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Civil commitment pursuant to RCW 71.09 is a massive deprivation of liberty and before the State may indefinitely confine Mr. Bargas, the appellant herein, it must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he currently suffers from a mental condition that distinguishes him from the ordinary criminal recidivist and renders him so unable to control his sexual impulses that he is likely to commit future sex offenses if not confined. Mr. Bargas was not diagnosed with a sexual disorder and the State failed to establish that his diagnoses of Antisocial Personality Disorder (ASPD), polysubstance abuse, and psychopathy rendered him likely to sexually reoffend if not confined. Moreover, given the consensus among the experts that if Mr. Bargas refrained from substance use he would be *unlikely* to sexually reoffend, confining him in the Special Commitment Center (SCC), where intensive substance abuse treatment is unavailable, violates his right to due process.

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.
 Bargas has a mental condition that renders him unable to control his sexual impulses.

The State failed to show beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.
 Bargas is likely to commit future sexually violent offenses if not confined.

3. Because there was uncontested testimony that intensive substance abuse treatment was unavailable at the SCC, the nature and duration of Mr. Bargas' confinement is unrelated to the purpose of his confinement, thereby rendering his commitment to that facility unconstitutional.

#### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. In order to confine an individual under RCW 71.09, the State must prove that the person suffers from a mental condition that makes it so difficult for them to control their sexual impulses that they are likely to sexually reoffend if not confined. Where Mr. Bargas' only diagnoses were ASPD, polysubstance abuse, and psychopathy, did the State prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he has a mental condition that renders him unable to control his sexual impulses?

2. In order to make out its case for confinement under RCW 71.09 the State must show that an individual is currently likely to sexually reoffend if not confined. Where Mr. Bargas' penile plethysmograph testing revealed no deviant sexual interests and where actuarial instruments placed him at a low percentage risk of reoffense, did the State

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that that he is currently likely to commit future sexually violent crimes if not confined?

3. Civil commitment is a massive deprivation of liberty and the Supreme Court has found that as a matter of due process, such confinement is constitutional only when the "nature and duration of commitment bear some reasonable relation to the purpose for which the individual is committed." *Jackson v. Indiana*, 406 U.S. 715, 738, 92 S.Ct. 1845, 32 L.Ed.2d 435 (1972). Where both psychological experts agreed Mr. Bargas was unlikely to reoffend if he refrained from using substances and where the State's expert opined that he was in need of intensive substance abuse treatment to address that risk, was it a violation of due process to order his confinement in the SCC, where such treatment is unavailable.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Bargas has been convicted of three sexual offenses. CP 455; RP V. 3, p. 53-55.<sup>1</sup> All three offenses were committed while Mr. Bargas

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All citations to the clerk's papers are herein cited as "CP\_\_". The recorded proceedings for this matter are contained in a non-consecutively paginated six-volume transcript. The first volume relates to pre-trial conferences held on March 14, 2011 and July 20, 2012. The other five volumes contain the transcript of the bench trial held in Skagit County Superior Court from December 10-20, 2012. All citations herein are cited to the volume and page as "RP V.\_\_, p.\_\_".

was under the influence of drugs and alcohol. RP V. 4, p. 43-46, RP V. 5, p. 10. His most recent offense occurred in 1996. CP 455; RP V. 3, p. 53-55. Though he pled guilty to that offense for a negotiated sentence of eight years, the court ultimately sentenced him to fourteen years of incarceration. RP V. 2, p. 31. On February 17, 2011, after serving almost his entire sentence, the State filed a petition to indefinitely confine Mr. Bargas as a sexually violent predator under RCW 71.09. CP 454. Following a probable cause determination, Mr. Bargas was transferred to the SCC. Id.

In December 2012, a five-day bench trial was held pursuant to RCW 71.09.060, before the Honorable John M. Meyer in Skagit County Superior Court. CP 454. At the trial, the State offered the testimony of staff from the Department of Corrections as well as from the SCC. The State also offered the testimony of Dr. Henry Richards, a forensic psychologist and the former Superintendent for the SCC. RP V. 3, p. 40. Dr. Richards interviewed Mr. Bargas in anticipation of trial and diagnosed him with ASPD, polysubstance abuse, and psychopathy. RP V.3, p. 86. He opined that these disorders resulted in a mental abnormality that caused Mr. Bargas to have serious difficulty controlling his sexual behaviors such

that he was likely to engage in predatory sexual violence if not confined to a secure treatment facility. RP V. 3, p. 80, 143; RP V. 4, p. 15.

Mr. Bargas offered the testimony of staff from the Department of Corrections and the SCC as well. RP V.4, p. 134, 149. He also offered the testimony of Dr. Chris Fisher, a psychologist who, like Dr. Richards, found that Mr. Bargas suffers from ASPD and polysubstance abuse. RP V.4, p.177-79. However, Dr. Fisher concluded that Mr. Bargas did not meet the criteria for confinement under RCW 71.09 because such disorders did not render him unable to control his sexual impulses. Id. Finally, Mr. Bargas offered numerous lay witnesses who testified regarding his religious convictions, his personal character and history, and the support they could provide if he were to be released to the community. RP V.6, p. 3, 13, 21, 30.

The court issued a written decision on February 7, 2013, finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Bargas met the criteria for confinement pursuant to RCW 71.09. CP 454-59. The court found that Mr. Bargas lacked credibility and that he had not maintained his sobriety when in the community and that he had not engaged in substance abuse treatment that would help him stay sober and stop offending. CP 456. The court credited the testimony of Dr. Richards over that of Dr. Fisher, and found that Mr. Bargas suffers from alcohol abuse, polysubstance dependence, ASPD and psychopathy; the court further found that Mr. Bargas has deviant sexual arousal and that these disorders caused Mr. Bargas serious difficulty controlling his sexually violent behavior. CP 457. The court credited Dr. Richards' risk assessment and, based upon the Static 99 and PCL-R, as well as the dynamic factors identified by Dr. Richards, concluded that Mr. Bargas was likely to reoffend if not confined. CP 457-58. The court thereafter ordered Mr. Bargas confined to the SCC until his condition has so changed that he is safe to be released to the community. CP 459.

#### ARGUMENT

## 1. The State failed to show beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Bargas' substance abuse and personality disorders render him unable to control his sexual impulses.

As a matter of both due process and statutory direction, before a person may be civilly confined as a sexually violent predator under RCW 71.09 the State must first prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person "suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.060; RCW 71.09.020(1); *In re Det. of Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 48, 857 P.2d 396 (1993). In reviewing a trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law in a proceeding held

pursuant to RCW 71.09, this Court must determine whether "substantial evidence" supports the challenged findings and whether those findings support the trial court's conclusions. *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 744, 72 P.3d 708 (2003), *cert. denied*, 541 U.S. 990, 124 S.Ct. 2015, 158 L.Ed.2d 496 (2004). Thus, on review, "when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, there must be sufficient evidence in the finding of mental illness to allow a rational trier of fact to conclude the person facing commitment has serious difficulty controlling behavior." *Id*.

Here, the State failed to present substantial evidence that Mr. Bargas' ASPD, substance abuse, and psychopathy renders him so unable to control his sexual impulses that he must be confined to a secure facility. Under both prevailing Supreme Court precedent and Washington's statutory definition of "mental abnormality," this linkage is a required element for sexually violent predator (SVP) commitment, and one which the State failed to prove at Mr. Bargas' RCW 71.09 proceeding.

In *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 357, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997), the Kansas Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA) survived constitutional challenge because the finding of dangerousness required for commitment was predicated upon proof of more than a mere predisposition to violence; rather, it required evidence of past sexually violent behavior and a present mental condition that makes it difficult, if

not impossible, for the person to control his dangerous sexual behavior. *Id.* at 358. While approving the Kansas statute generally, Justice Kennedy noted in his concurring opinion: "If, however, civil confinement were to become a mechanism for retribution or general deterrence, or if it were shown that mental abnormality is too imprecise a category to offer a solid basis for concluding that civil detention is justified, our precedents would not suffice to validate it." *Id.* at 373.

The Supreme Court revisited the showing required to sustain civil commitment as a sexually violent predator in *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 122 S.Ct. 867, 151 L.Ed.2d 856 (2002), again dealing with the Kansas statute. In *Crane*, the court noted that though a "total and complete lack of control" over sexually violent behaviors was not required in order to sustain SVP commitment, the "critical distinguishing feature" for offenders who may be properly subject to such statutes are those who have "a special and serious lack of ability to control behavior." *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 412-13. The court then determined that due process in this context required "proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior" that is sufficient to distinguish a dangerous sex offender subject to civil commitment from the "dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." *Id.* at 413. Critically, this distinction limits civil commitment only to that subset of offenders whose "illness, abnormality

or disorder," renders them sexually dangerous and therefore in need of indefinite civil confinement. *Id.* at 413. Implicit in that distinction between the dangerous sexual offender and the dangerous but typical criminal recidivist, is that the behavior that cannot be controlled is sexual behavior that is causally linked to a mental condition. *See also Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 86-87, 112 S.Ct. 1780, 118 L.Ed.2d 437 (1992)(rejecting the use of ASPD to sustain confinement because such "rationale would permit the State to hold indefinitely [a person] shown to have a personality disorder.")

These precedents are reflected in Washington's definition of "sexually violent predator," which requires a showing that an alleged mental abnormality or personality disorder "makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). Indeed, in *Thorell*, the Washington Supreme Court found that due process requires more than mere proof of a risk to reoffend but rather proof of a risk to reoffend which stems from a mental disorder. 149 Wn.2d at 715-16. Moreover, though RCW 71.09.020(18) anticipates that confinement under that chapter may be premised upon a personality disorder, the State is still required to prove that the alleged disorder causes an individual a "special and serious" lack of control over their sexual behavior that distinguishes them from an

ordinary criminal recidivist. *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 412-13. Accordingly, during the underlying RCW 71.09 bench trial, the State was required to prove that Mr. Bargas suffers from a mental condition that causes him special and serious difficulty controlling his sexual behavior and makes him likely to commit sexual offenses if not confined. It failed to do so.

At trial Dr. Richards testified that Mr. Bargas suffers from ASPD, alcohol abuse, and psychopathy and that these conditions render Mr. Bargas unable to control his sexual impulses. RP V.3, p. 143. However, as he admitted at trial, a mental abnormality cannot be inferred from the presence of a diagnosis— under the statute, the manifestations of the alleged disorders must make a person likely to commit sexual offenses. RP V.4, p. 59-60; RCW 71.09.020(18). *See also Crane*, 534 U.S. at 412-13. However, it is clear from Dr. Richard's testimony that Mr. Bargas' history of sexual offending is the result of substance abuse and a criminal lifestyle, and not the result of a mental condition that causes an ongoing and serious inability to control his sexual behaviors.

First, Dr. Richard's diagnosis of ASPD does not supply a causal connection between Mr. Bargas' alleged mental state and a "special and serious" inability to control his sexual impulses. Under the DSM-IV-TR, the criteria for ASPD are:

- A. There is a pervasive pattern of disregard for and violation of the rights of others occurring since age 15 years, as indicated by three (or more) of the following:
  - 1. Failure to conform to social norms with respect to lawful behaviors as indicated by repeatedly performing acts that are grounds for arrest
  - 2. deceitfulness, as indicated by repeated lying, use of aliases, or conning others for personal profit or pleasure
  - 3. impulsivity or failure to plan ahead
  - 4. irritability and aggressiveness, as indicated by repeated physical fights or assaults
  - 5. reckless disregard for safety of self or others
  - consistent irresponsibility, as indicated by repeated failure to sustain consistent work behavior or honor financial obligations
  - lack of remorse, as indicated by being indifferent to or rationalizing having hurt, mistreated, or stolen from another.

B. The individual is at least age 18 years.

C. There is evidence of conduct disorder with onset before age 15 years.

D. The occurrence of antisocial behavior is not exclusively during the course of schizophrenia or a manic episode.

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual-IV-TR ("DSM-IV-TR"), p. 706; RP

Vol. 3, p. 94. Nowhere in this criteria is volitional incapacity, much less

sexual preoccupation or deviancy, contemplated. Thus, as even Dr.

Richards admitted, a simple diagnosis of ASPD alone cannot be

considered sufficient to justify total confinement under RCW 71.09. See RP V. 4, p. 60.

Indeed, for this very reason, national experts in the field of SVP commitment have found that "the diagnosis of Antisocial Personality Disorder alone, without an attending diagnosis of paraphilia, would almost never lead to a finding that an offender would be likely, or very likely, to reoffend with another sexually violent act." Jack Vognsen, PhD & Amy Phenix, PhD, *Antisocial Personality Disorder is Not Enough: A Reply to Sreenivasan, Weinberger, and Garrick*, 32 J. Am. Acad. Psychiatry L. 440, 440- 442 (2004). Even Allen Frances, one of the architects of the DSM-IV-TR, has opined that ASPD should be used to support confinement as a sexually violent predator only when "it can be demonstrated that it leads specifically to a pattern of sexual offenses." Allen Frances, MD, et al., *Defining Mental Disorder When it Really Counts: DSM-IV- TR and SVP/SDP Statutes*, 36 J. Am. Acad. Psychiatry L. 375, 381 (2008).

At trial, Dr. Richards attempted to conjure this required connection between Mr. Bargas' ASPD and his sexual offending, testifying

substance abuse disinhibits him, allows him to do things that are of violence exploitative, without feeling...When I listened to him I agree he doesn't want to hurt anybody. Antisocial Personality

Disorder drives him toward certain opportunistic exploitative situations, environments. Substance abuse disinhibits him at the moment. It facilitates criminal activity...essentially creates a lifestyle that is crime prone and sexual offense prone.

RP V.3, p.143. However, under this construct, it is clear that Mr. Bargas offends while under the influence, not because ASPD or substance use compels him to sexually offend, but because his substance abuse disinhibits him and puts him in situations in which crimes are generally more likely to occur. However, simply showing that Mr. Bargas is more likely to *choose* to commit sexual offenses while intoxicated is insufficient for a finding of mental abnormality under the precedent set by *Crane*. 534 U.S. at 412-13.

As pointed out by the dissent in *Crane*, "[o]rdinary recidivists choose to re-offend and are therefore amenable to deterrence through the criminal law; those subject to civil commitment under the [Kansas statute], because their mental illness is an affliction and not a choice, are unlikely to be deterred." *Id* at 420-21 (Scalia, J., with whom Thomas, J., joined). *See also, Varner v. Monohan*, 460 F.3d 861, 864 (7th Cir. 2006) ("Crane held that the Constitution requires findings that separate inability to control from unwillingness to control."); *U.S. v. Wilkinson*, 646 F. Supp. 2d 194, 196 (Mass. Dist. Ct. 2009)(in order to justify SVP commitment the person must be dangerous because of a mental condition "which causes him to have serious difficulty in making reasoned choices."). The testimony of Dr. Richards supports a finding that Mr. Bargas can in fact control his behavior, but that when he uses substances, he may not chose to. Such a showing is insufficient to sustain confinement pursuant to RCW 71.09.

In fact, Dr. Richards testified, both during his deposition and at trial, that all of Mr. Bargas' sex offenses were related to his substance abuse and that if he remained sober he would *not* be likely to reoffend. CP 75; RP V. 4, p. 43. According to Dr. Richards, if he did not use substances, Mr. Bargas would be a fundamentally different person. *See* RP V. 4, p. 19. He went so far as to state in his deposition, "I think that if he were to show more awareness [of his substance abuse], then—then it would be unlikely that the pattern [of sex offending] would have continued." CP 221.

Dr. Richards' essential argument then, appears to be Mr. Bargas "drags himself into the gutter by drinking, living a marginal life, trying to play the role of petty hustler" and that when in this situation, he seeks out "environments, bars, families where there's a single mother, a marginal person emotionally, a marginal person socially...." RP V. 3, p. 143-44. *See also* CP 73-74. However, keeping bad company and hanging out in undesirable bars with single mothers is not a mental abnormality, and a

tendency to make dubious life choices is not the "special and serious" lack of volitional control over one's sexual impulses required by *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 412-13. In order to qualify as a condition for which total confinement is necessary, the State must show beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Bargas suffers from a condition that compels him to commit sexual offenses, thereby distinguishing him from the "dangerous but typical recidivist." *Id.* Dr. Richards' testimony failed to make that showing.

Moreover, in order to form the basis for confinement, the alleged disorder must *currently* cause a "special and serious" inability to control sexual behavior. RCW 71.09.060; *Hendricks*, 521 U.S. at 371. Though Dr. Richards makes much of the fact that Mr. Bargas did not remain sober while in the community, and that therefore his past alcohol use continues to put him at risk of sexual recidivism, Mr. Bargas has not been in the community since his last criminal offense in 1996. CP 461. And though Mr. Bargas abused alcohol at that time, there is no evidence that he continues to have the same problem seventeen years later. Indeed, all the evidence points to the contrary.

At trial there was extensive testimony that drugs and alcohol are widely available in both prison and the SCC. *See, e.g.*, RP V.2, p.175, CP 38, RP V. 3, p. 84, RP V.4, p.178. Despite the availability of substances in

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