19844-3

1298443 RECEIVED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

NOV 132013

#### NO. 69844-3

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Michael Bargas,

MICHAEL BARGAS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

**Ori**ginal

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARY ROBNETT Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 21129 Office of the Attorney General Criminal Justice Division 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430

 $\{ \cdot \}$ 

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See e.g. In re Murrell, 215 S.W.3d 96 (2007) (Missouri case upholding SVP civil commitment with no paraphilia diagnosis, ruling antisocial personality disorder (ASPD) is not too "imprecise" to serve as the basis for commitment); In re Barnes, 689 N.W.2d 455 (2004) (Iowa case upholding SVP civil commitment based on ASPD, finding that statute does not require the diagnosed condition to affect the emotional or volitional capacity of every person who is afflicted with the disorder); In re Adams, 223 Wis.2d 60, 588 N.W.2d 336 (1998) (Diagnosis of ASPD, uncoupled with any other mental disorders, may satisfy the "mental disorder" requirement of SVP statute); In re G.R.H., 711 N.W.2d 587 (2006) (North Dakota case upholding SVP civil commitment based on ASPD); and Hubbart v. Superior Court, 19 Cal.4th 1138, 969 P.2d 584, 81 Cal.Rptr.2d 492 (1999) (The Supreme Court's holding in Foucha vs. Louisiana, 504 U.S. 71, 112 S. Ct. 1780, 118 L. Ed. 2d 437, 1992 U.S (1992) does not limit the range of mental impairments that may lead to the permissible confinement of dangerous and disturbed individuals.).

97. But, as already noted, there is no talismanic significance to a particular diagnosis.

Here, the trial court found the combination of Bargas' diagnoses significant, and the evidence supports the findings. The trial court's Findings of Fact regarding Bargas' various diagnoses support the trial court's Conclusions of Law and constitute a legally sufficient basis for his commitment as a sexually violent predator.

# B. The Court's Findings of Fact Support the Conclusion That Bargas is Likely to Commit a Sexually Violent Offense if Not Confined to a Secure Facility.

Bargas argues that because he showed "no deviant sexual interest" on a penile plethysmograph (PPG), and because his score on an actuarial tool placed him at a "low risk of reoffending," the State failed to prove he is likely to reoffend if not confined. Appellant's Brief at 18.

## 1. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact Are Verities

Bargas did not challenge the trial court's Findings of Fact regarding his risk to reoffend. Accordingly, the unchallenged Findings of Fact are verities. *e.g. Truong*, at 77; *O'Neill*, at 571. This court's review is limited to a determination of whether the unchallenged findings support the trial court's conclusion of law. *Bartel v. Zucktriegel7y*, at 55.

### a. Substantial Evidence Supports the Trial Court's Findings of Fact

Even assuming that Bargas had challenged the Findings of Fact, substantial evidence supports the trial court's findings and Bargas' argument fails. The trial court entered the following Findings of Fact regarding Bargas' risk for re-offense:

> 16. The parties presented conflicting evidence about Respondent's risk of reoffending if released to the community. While Dr. Fisher attempted to reduce the concept of likelihood of reoffending to a purely mathematical formula, Dr. Richards recognized the need to consider many factors in assessing Respondent's risk of reoffending, including dynamic risk factors, clinical risk factors, actuarial risk and lifestyle factors, in reaching his opinion.

> 17. Both Dr. Richards and Dr. Fisher scored Respondent on the Static 99 R actuarial instrument. Dr. Richards' use and application of the Static 99R supports his opinion and this court's finding that Respondent is likely to re-offend is not confined to a secure facility.

18. Both psychologists also scored Respondent on the Hare Psychopathy Checklist- Revised (PCL-R), but Dr. Richards' experience, training, and scoring of Respondent on this instrument is more reliable than Dr. Fisher's. Respondent's psychopathy, as shown by his high score on the PCL-R, and his history as a mixed rapist-child molester, supports Dr. Richards' opinion, and this court finding, that Respondent is likely to reoffend if not confined in a secure facility.

19. Dr. Richards' risk assessment is more credible and it is based on dynamic risk factors, clinical risk factors, actuarial risk and lifestyle. Respondent is likely to commit future acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. 20. Based on all the evidence presented, the Respondent's mental abnormality and/or personality disorder make him likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility.

CP 457-8.

Dr. Richards testified that his risk assessment relied on actuarial tools, clinical risk factors (RP V. 4 p. 11-12), dynamic risk factors (Id. at 9; 11) and lifestyle factors Id. at 15. He testified that he used several actuarial tools. RP. V. 3 p. 160. At least one actuarial tool placed Bargas at a risk for re-offense of over 80 percent. V. 4 p. 4. Dr. Richards testified that another actuarial tool, the Sex Offender Risk Appraisal Guide (SORAG), indicated a very high risk for Bargas, an estimate of almost certain violent recidivism. RP V. 3 p. 160; 163; V. 4 p. 4-5. Dr. Richards relied most heavily on the Static 99R because it has the most recent sample table and it is the most neutral and most studied of the actuarial tools. RP. V. 3 p. 162. Dr. Richards testified that Bargas' score on the Static 99R, resulted in a ten year recidivism risk of about 33 percent. RP V. 4 p. 4. Dr. Richards also testified at length that the actuarial risk was an underestimate because the tool measures recidivism based on new criminal conviction, (RP V 3. p. 158-59) and many sex offenses go unreported or undetected. Id. at 159-60. Moreover, Dr. Richards testified

he is evaluating lifetime risk, and the Static 99R data is an underestimate because it is limited to a ten year time frame. RP V. 4 p. 15.

Dr. Richards testified that the 33 percent figure from the actuarial tool anchored his judgment, but based on clinical factors, dynamic factors and lifestyle factors, Bargas' risk of reoffending if not confined was over 50 percent.<sup>6</sup> RP V. 4 p. 14-15.

The foregoing testimony amply supports the trial court's Findings of Fact regarding risk. Further, it is the trial court that is in the best position to determine credibility of witnesses and weigh the evidence, and the trial court specifically found that Dr. Richards' scoring was more reliable and his risk assessment more credible than Bargas' own expert. Clearly, the trial court appropriately gave more deference and weight to the testimony of Dr. Richards.

Even assuming Bargas had challenged the trial court's Findings of Fact, the evidence supports the findings and Bargas' argument is without merit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dr. Richards described a confidence interval that is used to establish the Static 99R risk levels. He testified that he relied on the high end of the confidence interval because the practice in the health and public safety analysis is to use the confidence interval that is nearest to the danger or the benefit that we're seeking (RP V. 4 p. 101), but even if he used the low end of the confidence interval in Static 99R, it would not change his opinion that Bargas is more likely than not to re-offend in a sexually violent predatory way. *Id.* at 115.

#### 2. Bargas Arguments are Not Supported by the Record

Bargas argues that he is not at risk to reoffend because he showed no deviant sexual interest on the PPG and the actuarial score from the Static 99R placed him at low risk to reoffend. Neither argument is supported by the record.

The actual trial testimony was that the PPG results were "inconclusive." RP V. 4 p. 98. There was insufficient data to form any conclusion. *Id.* at 98. Dr. Richards was asked about the PPG and he testified, "It indicated nothing." *Id.* at 98. Bargas' own retained expert, Dr. Fisher, testified as follows about the PPG results, "The conclusion was that it was inconclusive. There was no useful data to the exam here." RP. V. 5 p. 77. Because the PPG "indicates nothing," Bargas' argument that the test showed no deviant sexual arousal has no merit.

Moreover, the evidence does not support Bargas' argument that the actuarial score from the Static 99R places him at low risk to reoffend. Appellant's brief at 18; 20. Bargas' retained expert, Dr. Fisher, testified that he evaluated Bargas using the Static 99R and he obtained the same score as Dr. Richards. RP V. 5 p. 24. But Dr. Fisher admitted that in determining the risk associated with the score, he did not use the Static 99R as recommended by the developers of the instrument. RP V.5 p. 159-160. Accordingly the trial specifically found that Dr. Richards' use

and application of the Static 99R supports his opinion, and the court's finding, that the Respondent is likely to re-offend if not confined in a secure facility. CP 457 (Finding of Fact 17).

As previously discussed, the trial court gave greater deference and weight to the testimony of Dr. Richards rather than Dr. Fisher. Indeed, the trial court specifically rejected Dr. Fisher's testimony by finding that Dr. Richards was more experienced, more knowledgeable and used the Static 99R as it was recommended to be used. The trial court specifically rejected Dr. Fisher's testimony regarding risk. Additionally, the court found that Dr. Richards scoring on the psychopathy instrument was more reliable. The trial court was in the best position to determine credibility and weigh evidence. The foregoing Findings of Fact are supported by the evidence. Bargas' argument that the Static99R placed him at low risk to reoffend is without merit.

# 3. The Findings of Fact Support the Trial Court's Conclusion of Law That Bargas is Likely to Engage in Predatory Acts of Sexual Violence if Not Confined to a Secure Facility.

Bargas argues, vaguely, that the State failed to prove he is likely to reoffend if not confined. Appellant's Brief at 18. The trial court entered the following conclusion of law: 7. Beyond a reasonable doubt, Respondent is likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence unless he is confined in a secure facility.

CP 458.

The unchallenged Findings of Fact support the trial court's conclusion. Specifically Findings of Fact 17 and 18 include specific language finding that Bargas is likely to reoffend if not confined in a secure facility. CP 457-58. Finding of Fact 19 includes language that Bargas is likely to commit future acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. CP 458. Finding of Fact 20 includes language that Bargas is likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence of not confined in a secure facility. CP 458. Further, there is substantial evidence supporting the foregoing Findings of Fact as previously discussed. The Findings of Fact support the Trial court's Conclusion of Law. Bargas' argument that the State failed to prove he is likely to reoffend if not confined is without merit.

# C. Bargas' Confinement at the Special Commitment Center, Where Sex Offender Treatment is Provided to Residents, Does Not Violate Bargas' Right to Due Process.

Bargas vaguely asserts that his confinement at the SCC "violates due process" because he needs intensive drug and alcohol treatment, which is not available at the SCC. Appellant's Brief at 23.

"The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution requires state officials to provide civilly-committed persons . . . with access to mental health treatment that gives them a realistic opportunity to be cured or to improve the mental condition for which they were confined." Turay v. Seling, 108 F. Supp. 2d 1148, 1151 (W.D. Wash. 2000) aff'd in part, dismissed in part sub nom. Turay v. Anderson, 12 F. App'x 618 (9th Cir. 2001) citing Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U.S. 307, 319-22, 102 S.Ct. 2452, 73 L.Ed.2d 28 (1982); Ohlinger v. Watson, 652 F.2d 775, 778 (9th Cir.1980). The State "enjoy[s] wide latitude in developing treatment regimens [for sex offenders]. Id. at 368 n. 4, quoting Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 368 n. 4, 117 S.Ct. 2072, 138 L.Ed.2d 501 (1997). The Hendricks Court rejected a facial challenge to a Kansas statute modeled on Washington's, noting that by committing sex offenders "to an institution expressly designed to provide psychiatric care and treatment" the state "has doubtless satisfied its obligation to provide available treatment." 521 U.S. at 368 n. 4, 117 S.Ct. 2072.

Bargas' argument has no merit. First, the argument is yet another attempt to re-frame his diagnosis as merely substance abuse, which is an unsupported premise. Appellant's Brief at 24. Second, his argument assumes there is no appropriate treatment available for him at the SCC,

which is also unsupported by the unchallenged Findings of Fact and the record.  $^{7}$ 

Although Bargas continues to try and frame his diagnosis as one of merely substance abuse or dependence, the unchallenged Findings of Fact, and the evidence, indicate that he has a constellation of other diagnoses and issues including antisocial personality disorder, severe psychopathy, and deviant sexual arousal. Bargas has not challenged the trial court's findings and the court specifically found that Bargas "sees himself as a person who commits crimes of opportunity while he is under the influence of drugs and alcohol." CP 455. But Bargas "lacks credibility" (CP 455) and he "has avoided taking responsibility for his actions and has refused to acknowledge that he has sexual deviancy issues, despite his history of sexually offending." CP 455. The court also found that Bargas "wants to be in control, even with staff," and he has "refused to participate in the Counselor Assisted Self Help (CASH) substance abuse treatment at the SCC." CP 456.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Bargas does not specify the basis for his due process argument. The United States Supreme Court has held that the SVP statute (Community Protection Act of 1990) is civil in nature. *Seling v. Young*, 531 U.S. 250, 259-61, 121 S. Ct. 727, 148 L. Ed. 2d 734 (2001). Earlier due process challenges to the constitutionality of confinement for SVPs are based on the claim that the act was punitive in nature. *Id.; see also Turay v. Seling*, 108 F. Supp. 2d 1148, 1151 (W.D. Wash. 2000) *aff'd in part, dismissed in part sub nom. Turay v. Anderson*, 12 F. App'x 618 (9th Cir. 2001).

Bargas takes testimony out of context to argue that if confined to the SCC he has two options "attend farcical AA group" or CASH in which "untrained therapists come and go," where "program goals are shifted" and where "participants never graduate." Appellant's Brief at 27-8. An actual review of the testimony shows plainly that during Dr. Richards' testimony, Dr. Richards was relating Bargas' stated reasons for not participating in CASH. RP V. 3 p 87-88. Bargas did not want to get into the CASH program because the CASH program involved sex offender treatment. *Id.* at 88. Dr. Richards related, "And because it [sex offender treatment] was part of that, he didn't want to do it." *Id.* at 88. Bargas told Richards that he had reviewed some of the treatment manuals and "it wasn't a process he wanted to go through." *Id.* at 88. Bargas complained that the treatment program was unstable, changing, and he knew residents who had been there for 15 years, meeting setbacks. *Id.* at 88.

Dr. Richards acknowledged that sex offender treatment does force people to face up to very painful things, deal with dysfunction, including sexual dysfunction. RP V 3 p. 89. Dr. Richards testified that, contrary to Bargas' view, the program was more stable, with a "very accomplished staff" and a "more stable environment." *Id.* at 89.

Bargas asserts that the only substance abuse treatment offered at the SCC is AA and CASH. Appellant's Brief at 25. This assertion

ignores the court's Findings of Fact and misstates the evidence. Significantly, the court found that the sex offender treatment at the SCC "will address deviancy, sexual offending and substance abuse." CP 456. Even assuming Bargas had challenged this finding, there is substantial evidence supporting this finding.

Dr. Richards, former superintendent of the SCC, testified that drug and alcohol treatment at the SCC is a very large focus for offenders who have drug and alcohol problems. RP V 4 p. 48-9. He went on to describe that there are special modules in the treatment at the SCC to address sobriety and addiction to drugs and alcohol and the basic principles of relapse prevention. *Id.* at 49. This testimony supports the trial courts Findings of Fact. Bargas' argument that the SCC does not offer appropriate drug and alcohol treatment is without merit.

Bargas has not raised any meritorious issue on appeal. He continues to argue that his primary disorder is alcohol and drug addiction, a premise that was argued at trial and rejected by the trier of fact. Bargas contends he needs very specific substance abuse treatment, the kind that is NOT available at the SCC, another premise that was argued at trial and rejected. On these bases, previously rejected by the trier of fact, Bargas now argues that his continued confinement is not constitutional. His argument ignores the fact that he has mental abnormalities, a personality

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